
WASHINGTON SQUARE PARK 
A CHANGING LANDSCAPE 



1600õs PLAN 

OVERALL HISTORY                                                                                           Land  Occupied by Lenape Indians (160 0õs) 
HISTORICAL PLANS  

The 9.75 acres of 

Washington Square 

Park was once a 

meadow with a 

stream that ran 

diagonally through 

it, known as Minetta 

Brook.   



1645 PLAN 

OVERALL HISTORY                 OWNERSHIP OF LAND ð Anthony Portuguese                     Wouter Van Twiller (Early 1700õs) 
HISTORICAL PLANS  

Under Dutch rule the land 

around Minetta  Brook was 

farmed by freed slaves. A 

large part Square was owned 

by Anthony Portuguese, one 

of the original freed slaves in 

the colony.  

The 6.75 ð acre Portuguese 

parcel was part of an early 17 th 

century Wouter Van Twillerõs 

100-acre farm.   

Wouter  Van Twiller 

Employee of the Dutch West Indian Company 

and the Director -General of New Netherland  



OVERALL HISTORY                                        OWNERSHIP OF LAND                                              Sir Peter Warren(1716-1748) 
HISTORICAL PLANS  

After the Dutch abandoned 

control of Manhattan to the 

English, slavery again became 

institutionalized.  By 1716, all the 

property granted to the freed 

slaves and their decedents had 

passed to Dutch or English 

landholders.   

In the 1700õs, the land now 

occupied by the Square was 

owned by Sir Peter Warren, 

who purchased 300 acres of 

land stretching from Minetta 

Brook to the Hudson River.   

Sir Peter Warren 
British Naval Officer From Ireland  



OVERALL HISTORY                                       OWNERSHIP OF LAND -  William S. Smith                                       Late 1700õs 
HISTORICAL PLANS  

Epidemics of yellow fever hit the city in 

1795 thru 1797.  In 1797 the cityõs 

Common Council purchased the land of 

William S. Smith to be set aside for a 

burial ground.  This land was purchased 

at public auction and accounts for two -

thirds of the land that now makes up 

Washington Square.  Though at the time 

of the action, the land was owned by 

William Burroughs, who had purchased 

the property from William Smith after he 

was unable to make payments.  

William S. Smith had served as an aide 

to George Washington during the 

Revolutionary War.  After the war, he 

was appointed secretary of the 

American Legation in London and 

served with John Adams.  Smith married 

Adamsõ daughter, Abigail Smith Adams, 

in 1786. 

William S. Smith  



OVERALL  HISTORY                         OWNERSHIP OF LAND -   Common Council                   Potterõs Field  1797 THRU 1825 
HISTORICAL PLANS  

Those who did live in the area 

were wealthy citizens who had 

summer residences in the 

vicinity.  Among the wealthy 

William Ludlow, a well -to-do 

New York City merchant, and 

Alexander Hamilton, the first 

United States Secretary of the 

Treasury until his resignation 

in1795.  These inhabitants were 

unhappy at the prospect of 

having a potterõs field and sent 

a letter of protest to the Council 

along with an offer to purchase 

a more suitable tract of land 

further away.  A vote by the 

Council, which required a tie -

breaking vote by Mayor, 

Samuel Varick, resulted in the 

potterõs field remaining in 

Greenwich Village.      

Yellow Fever Epidemic (1795 -1804) 



OVERAL                                             Potterõs Field  and William Ludlow  Property                                       1797 THRU 1825 
HISTORICAL PLANS  

Other improvements 

included the erection of a 

fence by 1799 built of boards, 

posts and rails and the 

planting of trees.  

William Ludlow, owned 20 acres where a house was 

documented in 1789.  By 1817, two additional 

structures stood west of Minetta Brook. Ludlow 

intended his Greenwich Lane property as a summer 

retreat.  By 1804, William Stephens Smith (husband of 

Abigail Adams), the former owner of the land 

purchased by the city, rented Ludlowõs house until 

1810.  

Improvements to the potterõs 

field began after the land was 

purchased.  The structure in the 

potterõs field was the 

superintendent or keeperõs 

house.  

Superintendent  

House 



OVERALL HISTORY                                                    Potterõs Field                                                                    1797 THRU 1826 
HISTORICAL PLANS  

Minetta Brook continued to flow thru 

the potterõs field, in 1808 the 

Common Council ordered the field 

to be leveled by moving soil from 

higher ground to the valley on either 

side of the stream..   

 

By 1826, two small church 

cemeteries were documented in the 

northeast corner of what is now the 

park.  The Pearl Street and Cedar 

Street Church were both associated 

with the Scotch Presbyterian Church  

Local legend claims that the 70õ tall, 300-year old English Elm, located at the 

northeast corner of the park, was used by the British to hang traitors during the 

Revolutionary War.  Only one hanging documented execution occurred in the 

Potterõs Field, and in all accounts identified the victim as Rose Butler, a young black 

woman, was hanged on July 9, 1819, was found guilty of arson.   



OVERALL HISTORY          Parade Grounds ð Washington Military Parade Ground  - First Park Plan           1825 THRU 1829 
HISTORICAL PLANS  

Following of the closing of the Potterõs 

Field in 1825, and the acquisition of the 

former Ludlow land to the west, in 

January 1826, the four -block òsquareó 

became a Military Parade Ground.  

 

As a parade ground, the square 

would serve as a public space where 

voluntary companies could train and 

drill.   

 

 

A 1829 survey of the Washington 

Parade Ground reveals the first 

design  for what we know as the park 

today.  The survey records a design 

that is laid out in four quadrants, very 

linear with gravel walkways 

extending north -south and east -west 

converging at an oval area near the 

center of the park.   

 

 

Parade Ground ð First Park Plan 



OVERALL HISTORY                         Washington Military Parade Grounds - the Row                           cc    1829 THRU 1833  
HISTORICAL PLANS  

The handsome new square attracted prestigious 

residents to the area around the park.  These new 

neighbors included those living in the red -brick 

Greek revival houses along the northern boundary 

of the park, known collectively as òthe Rowó.    



OVERALL HISTORY                           Washington Parade Grounds ð Second Park Plan                     cc    1836 THRU 1840õs 
HISTORICAL PLANS  

By 1836, a second plan was created for the square.  By 

the 1840õs, the Washington Parade Ground was the 

heart of New York Cityõs wealthiest.  Residents took 

action to transform the òparkó parade ground into a 

space better suited to such pleasurable family 

activities as strolls and picnics.   

 

The new design introduced diagonal gravel foot walks 

leading to the center of the square with corner 

entrances at each quadrant.  

 

 

 

New York University 

purchased property 

on the east side of 

the Square in 1832 

which took years to 

complete and put the 

University in debt.  

To the south of the 

University building stood 

the Dutch Reformed 

Church, a Gothic Revival 

building. By 1895, the old 

church was demolished.  



OVERALL HISTORY                                  Washington Parade Ground ðThird Park Plan                          cc    1848 THRU 1852 
HISTORICAL PLANS ð PERIMETER FENCE 

By 1848, a third plan was put forward.  The design was 

very formal and added additional diagonal walkways 

through the park forming small angular grass plots 

and constructed an ornate iron railing and decorative 

entrance post with gates around the square where the 

wooden fence originally stood.  Four months later, the 

Council ordered that the Square be lighted with gas 

fixtures with poles.   

.   

 

According to an 1853 New York Times article, the 

designer of the park was William Curr, identified as a 

gardener. Curr not only designed Washington Square , 

but also was responsible for the original layouts of 

Union, Tompkins, Madison, and Stuyvesant Squares.  

 

 

 



OVERALL HISTORY                          Washington Parade Ground ðThird Park Plan                              cc    1848 THRU 1852 
HISTORICAL PLANS  - 1852 WASHINGTON FOUNTAIN 

The year 1850 saw the beginning of 

the òPleasure Groundó movement in 

America inspired by Andrew 

Jackson Downing.  The goal was to 

provide places of òsheer tranquility 

and unstructured activityó which 

were greatly needed in urban areas.  

 

 

To demonstrate the cityõs amazing engineering 

feat, the construction of the Croton Aqueduct, the 

Common Council began to construct fountains in 

public spaces which included Washington Square, 

City Hall Park, Tompkins, Union and Madison 

Square.   

 

 

 

By 1852, the Washington Fountain 

was completed, the designer 

unknown.  The 100 foot diameter 

basin was made of bluestone and 

had a number of jets and made an 

impressive display.  The fountain 

situated at the center of the square 

with access from each entrance and 

viewed as the focus of the park.   

Andrew Jackson Downing  



OVERALL HISTORY                                            Washington Square Park ð Forth Park Plan                                       cc    1870 
HISTORICAL PLANS  - I.A. PILAT, CHIEF LANDSCAPE GARDENER 

In 1870, the Common Council moved 

to make Washington Military Parade 

Ground a full time park.   

 

One of the first actions taken by the 

Department was the firing of all major 

department heads influential in the 

development of Central Park 

including Olmsted and Vaux.   

 

Later that same year, a drastic 

change was made to New Yorkõs 

parks when a group of corrupt 

politicians, known as the Tweed Ring,  

after William òBossó 

Tweed,  dismantled 

the Common 

Council and 

replaced them 

with a new city 

agency, the 

Department of 

Public Parks.  

 

Fredrick Law Olmsted  

William  Tweed  

On May 19, 1870 the new Department of Public Parks called on the Engineer -

in-chief, M.A. Kellogg and the Chief Landscape Gardener, I.A. Pilat to present 

plans for the improvements of the various squares, including the Washington 

Parade Ground.  Pilatõs was chief gardener at Central Park where he had the 

great responsibility to carry out Olmstedõs visions and followed the principles 

of Fredrick Law Olmsted to design a more rustic and informal park with 

curvilinear paths but retained the original east -west walkway and diagonals 

on leading to small plazas.  The most dramatic change to the park is the 

introduction of the carriage drive.   

Calvert Vaux  



HISTORICAL PLANS  - Jacob Wrey Mould Fountain  

OVERALL HISTORY                             Washington Square Park ð Second Fountain                                    cc    1870 THRU 1879  

Mould  has previously worked with 

Calvert Vaux on designing many 

structures in Central Park including 

the cast -iron bridges, the Belvedere, 

the Dairy and the lavish 

ornamentation of the Bethesda 

Terrace.  

 

The new fountain was to be designed by Jacob Wrey 

Mould , the Architect -in-Chief for the Department of Public 

Works between 1870 and 1874.  

 

Pilatõs redesign of the park called for a new smaller 

more elaborate fountain.  

The original 1852 large 100 foot diameter with majestic 

jets most likely was removed to accommodate the drive.   

Over the course of the year, several different plans were discussed for the design of the fountain included an 80 foot in     

diameter, composed of several kinds of stone and featured a splendid bronze figure with a bronze candelabra.  

Controversy swirled around the Parks Department  during the years of òthe Ringó of having control and influence over 

decisions regarding finances, the workforce and design.   The NY Times editorial pages were filled with citizens 

complaining about construction work being done at a slow pace and costs.  As the redesign of the park neared 

completion, the Times ran an article blaming òThe Ringó for the òunruly walks that lead to nowhereó and òall the 

attractiveness of Washington Squareéééone of the most attractive in the city ð is gone.ó 

The publicõs reaction to corruption and over spending while 

under control of òthe Ringó, saved money by recycling 

materials from one park to another which resulted in scraping 

of plans for the $20,000 fountain in Washington Square, which 

was replaced by a recycled fountain from the Fifty -Ninth 

Street and Fifth Avenue entrance to Central Park, also 

designed by Jacob Wrey Mould.   

 

Central Park Entrance  

Jacob Wrey Mould  



OVERALL HISTORY                             Washington Parade Ground ð Forth Park Plan                             cc    1871 THRU 1879 
HISTORICAL PLANS  - Jacob Wrey Mould Fountain  

The design for the center of the fountain was on 

hold due to the unsatisfactory results of the 

òhydraulic apparatus,ó and  in combination 

with the Panic of 1873, which sent the county 

into financial despair. Inside the bluestone rim 

is a ring several feet wide planted with grass. 

Within the ring is a stone basin holding the 

water with a small water spray feature and later 

planted with aquatic flora such as water -lilies.  



OVERALL HISTORY                             Washington Parade Ground ð Forth Park Plan                             cc    1870 THRU 1879 
HISTORICAL PLANS  - CARRIAGE DRIVE 

 

 

The introduction of the carriage drive 

fragmented the park in half removing 

approximately a third of the parks 

central core including the original 

Washington fountain.   The drive, shaped 

as a pitch fork connected Fifth Avenue to 

Lower Manhattan by extending 

Thompson, Lauren Street (currently 

LaGuardia Place) and to what later 

would be Sullivan Street.  Although the 

drive would benefit travelers, many 

believed that this radial change was 

made to benefit Tweed and his 

associates who had substantial real 

estate holdings south of the park.  

 

By 1879, the Board of Commissioners called for the òremoval of the 

two roadways through and across Washington Square.  Only one 

roadway was closed through the park to what later become Sullivan 

Street.  Iron bollards were placed along the northwest and southwest 

linking the central fountain to the western portion of the park making 

the segment of roadbed pedestrian safe zone.  

1879 Map  



OVERALL HISTORY                             Washington Parade Ground ð Forth Park Plan                             cc    1871 THRU 1879 
HISTORICAL PLANS  - Jacob Wrey Mould Fountain  

Womenõs Cottage, was the parks 

first comfort station.   
Police Shelter, one of two òSwiss Cottagesó 

erected in 1872 and stood until 1939.   

Music Stand, erected in 1872  



OVERALL HISTORY                                                    Garibaldi Monument  

HISTORY  

WSP received its first monument in 1888 to the park 

sculpted by Giovanni Turini. The Italian -American 

community who in the area, collected contributions 

and the statue was dedicated on June 4, 1888.   

 

In 1970, the statue was moved approximately 15 

feet to the east to allow for the construction of the 

central promenade.  

cc    1888  


